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Strategic Report

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2022 (2021: year ended 26
September 2021) .

Princlpal Activity

During the year the Group was acquired by Signa Sports United GMBH, a New York Stock Exchange listed specialist online sports
retail company based in Berlin, Germany. Signa Sports United owns companies and brands in various sports including bike, tennis,
outdoor and team sports, selling equipment and apparet via 100 own online stores, collaborating with 500+ independent brick and
mortar shops, and partnering with over 1000 sports brands.

The Group itself, consists of two core trading brands, Wiggle and Chain Reaction which together are referred to as “WiggleCR™".
Both well established brands offer 2 unique customer proposition via their own dedicated online stores but with shared support
functions and distribution infrastructure. WiggleCR is a leading, global, onfine cycling and multisport business. WiggleCR develops
its own cycling and fitness products and brands, which are retaited online alongside a carefully selected range of the best third party
brands to provide a comprehensive and competitive range of products and services. In addition to the online businesses the Group
operates a retail store in Northem Ireland and wholesales cyrling goods fo retail outlets globally via Lhe trading entity, Hotlines
Europe Limited.

The business generated more than £252m in revenue in the year to 30 September 2022 with 38% of revenues coming from
international territories, gutside of the UK.

Core to WiggleCR's product range is a highly successful range of owned brands, designed and developed by expert in-house
teams to serve the needs of a committed and passionate customer base. These owned brands include dhb — premium,
petformance clothing, footwear and protection for ¢ycling, run and watersports; Nukeproof — a disruptive mountain biking brand
encompassing bikes, bike components and clothing; Vitus — bikes for riders of all disciplines at exceptional prices and Fohn —
premium outdoor clothing. Further own brand ranges offer cycling components and essentials to customers on the Wiggle and
Chain Reaction websites including Brand X, Prime and Lifeline Tools. As well as retailing these to customers directly, and via
Hotlines, these brands are being distributed across the wider Signa Sports United Group.

Strategy and Business Review

The strategy of the Group is to profitably grow sales especially in the UK market over the longer term, maintain sales in international
territories, increase the proportion of owned brand sales and drive owned brand sales across the wider Signa Sports United Group,
leverage the synergistic benefits of being part of the larger Signa Sports United Group, improve customer propositions and increase
efficiency.

UK sales have benefited from pandemic lockdowns, particularly through 2020 and 2021, and UK sales in the year to September
2022 are down by 32% due to the reduction in this benefit, aithough they are 7% higher than the year fo September 2019. In
addition the UK economy has, and is expected to continue to be, challenging — subduing consumer demand. Intemational sales
declined by 26% drivan mainly by the full year impact of Brexit reducing sales into EU where higher duty and fuifilment costs has
necessitated higher pricing.

The proportion of own brand sales has increased from 26% to 30% during the year. In addition own brand sales of Nukeproof, Vitus
and dhb have commenced through the wider Signa Sports United Group — both in European online stores of Signa Sports United
and through a new operation, managed and located in the USA.

As well distributing owned brands across the wider Signa Sports United Group, synergies are being pursued across many cost
areas which will start to yield benefits in future years.

In terms of improving customer propositions and efficiency — the Group is well advanced on implementing new and upgraded
customer facing online shop technology and “back cffice” systems, due to go live in first half of 2023. These will improve the
customer experience and therefore conversion and sales, and reduce costs through more efficient processes. Capital additions of
£14.5m were made during the year, mainly investments in these improvements.

During the year, the Mapil Topco group was acquired by SSU Group. As part of this fransaction there were some significant one-off
legal and professional and staffing costs incurred. These have been presented within administrative expenses and have adversely
impacted Net Profit by £36m.

At 30 September 2022, the Group had net assets of £95.9m (2021: net liabilities of £226.4m). The improvement in the Group's net
asset position is largely attributable to a capitai contribution from Signa Sports United GMBH totalling €373,692,000, please refer to

note 16 for further detail,
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Acquisition of WiggleCR by Signa Sports United GmbH
On the 14th December 2021 the Group was acquired by Signa Sports United, at the same point the SSU Group became fisted on

the New York Stock Exchange.

Corporate Structure
Mapil Topco Limited and its subsidiary companies form the Mapil Topco Group of Companies (“the Group”). Wiggle Limited is the
main frading Company in the Group. In addition, Wiggle Australia {Pty} Limited, Hotlines Europe Limited, and Chain Reaction
Cycles Retail Limited are also trading companies all controlled by Mapil Topco Limited ("the Group"). Chain Reaction Cycles
Limited provides management services to Wiggle Limited.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Group's activities expose it 1o a number of financial risks including currency risk, cradit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and
leverage risk.

Currency risk

The Group's costs are predominantly in GBP with 67% of payments being denominated in GBP, whilst only 62% of turnover and
66% of cash receipts are denominated in GBP. The principal foreign currencies where maore is received than paid are Euros,
Australian Dollars and Japanese Yen. This means that when GBP strengthens against these currencies, the GBP value of sales
reduces. The principal foreign currency where more is paid than received is the US Dollar. This means that when GBP strengthens
against this currency the GBP value of costs reduces, The Group manages this exposure as part of its day to day management of
trading margins and profitability. ’

Credit risk
The Group's principal financial assets are cash at bank, cash in transit and trade and other receivables. The credit risk on cash and

cash in transit is limited because the counter parties are banks and merchant acquirers with high credit-ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies. The risk on trade and other receivables is low due to them being low in value and having a low
{evel of concentration with any one counter party.

Liquidity risk

In order to maintain liquidity to ensure that sufficient funds are available for ongoing operations and future developments, the Group
uses a mixture of long-term and short-term debt finance.

interest rate risk
The Group's shareholder loans are fixed rate interest icans. The Group's historic bank borrowings were in fixed and floating rate
interest loans, these have now been cleared following the acquisition of WiggleCR by SSU. Details of the interest rates are

provided in note 14.

Leverage risk

The Group's borrowings are from intercompany loans with the Group, the histeric bank facilities and loan notes were paid off
following the acquisition of WiggleCR by SSU. Net debt is the total amount of cash and cash equivalents |ess interest-bearing loans
and borrowings, and finance lease liabilities. Net debt on 30 September 2022 is £50.0m (2021: £363.6m) of which £nil (2021:
£19.2m) is net bank debt.

All interest accrued on Group loans is fixed, non-cash and payable on maturity. The Group have ne bank borrowings which are
subject to fixed or floating interest rates. Details of the interest rate profile are provided in note 14.
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Strategic Report (continued)

Energy and carbon emissions

As a Group we are commitiad to hecoming more sustainablc by reducing our eniergy and carbon emissions. During the vear, the
Group has completed the following actions: eradicated all fluorescent lighting from all sites, invested in a fult & comprehensive
review of installing photovoltaic panel on the roof of one of our largest sites and offsetting a large % of the Groups electricity
consumption, reduced printing across the Group by 94%, continued to improve segregation of waste and committed to 100% zero

waste to landfill,

Furthermare, we are continually improving the use of sustainable packaging and continue to nurture biodiversity around out sites.
Our brand products are built to last, and we work with Bluesign and Oeko-Tex to ensure our products contribute to the lowest

environmental impact.

The Streamlined Energy and Carbon Report (SECR) will be completed annually for the period 1 October to 30 September each
year. We are also closing out & full scopa 3 analysis of our business, measuring our lull business and supply chain carbon footprint
and establishing environmental targets for all aperational sites.

The intensity ratios relate to UK operations only to align with the energy and emission reporting boundary, The following metrics are
considered the most relevant to the Company’s energy consuming activities and provide a good comparison of performance over
time and across different organisations and sectors:

- total gross emissions in metric tonnes CO.e (mandatory emissions) per square meter floor area of asset register; and
- totai gross emissions in metric tonnes CQ,e (mandatary emissions) per miflion orders.

Breakdown of emissions associated with the reported energy use (1CO,8):

Year ending Year ending

30 September 30 September

Emission source 2022 2021
Mandatory requirements:

Scope 1

Gas : 26.3 39.6
Transport - Company owned vehicles 59.5 23.9
Scope 2

Refrigerants 11.3 nfa
Purchased electricity 338.3 414.3
Scope 3

Transport - Business travet! in employee-owned vehicles nia nfa
Total gross emissions 435.4 477.8
Intensity ratios (mandatory emission only)

Tonnes of CO,e per square meter floor area 0.010 0.012
Tonnes of CO.e per million orders 146.4 111.6

Emissions have been calculated using DEFRA conversion figures for 2021 depending on the fuel type converted into Tonnes of
CO,e.

The year to September 2021 saw unprecedented levels of orders due to the Covid 19 pandemic, this increased warehouse energy
consumption due to temporary additional shift patterns, but given the high level or orders reduced the Tonnes of CO2e per million
orders ratio. In addition, enforced home working led to lower energy consumption in offices and led to lower transport costs as there
was much less trave! between locations, however this returned to a more typical level in 2022.

Gas and electricity consumption has declined due to reduced order levels and energy saving measures explained above.
The reporting of Refrigerants under scope 2 is a new reporting requirement and therefore no comparative data is available from
prior year,
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Statement by the directors in performance of their statutory duties in accordance with s172{1) Companies Act 2006

The hoard of directors of Mapil Topco Limited consider, both individually and together, that they have acted in the way they
consider, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the Group for the benefit of its members as a whole and
having regards to the stakeholders and matters set out in s172(1)(a-f} of the Act. Further details of the key events and decisions
taken in this regard are detailed in the Strategic Report above, along with the main elements of the Group's strategic plans that will
promeote this success in the long term.

in addition to the details contained in the Strategic Report, the board of directers have also considered the foliowing in exercising
their duties to promote the long term success of the Group's stakeholders:

Qur People

QOur empioyees are fundamental to the delivery of our plans. We aim to be a responsible employer in our approach to the pay and
benefits our employees receive but we are also focused on maintaining a supportive and inclusive environment. Employee retention
and progression is a core objective of our people agenda and is seen as a key long term strategy that henefits not only the Croup
and the employces themselvas, bul the wider business stakeholders.

Qur regular anonymous employee surveys are used to help measure the attitude and feeling of our work force. These results are
reviewed in detail by the directors; the results of which are used to formulate actions to help us develop and evolve as an employer.
These actions and processes along with our half yearty performance development reviews held for each employee, help ensure the
directors embed a culture where upholding a strong reputation for high standards of business conduct is seen as pivotal.

Business relationships

Our strategy for sustainable, profitable growth relies on maintaining strong supplier relationships which are built on trust and mutual
benefit. The customer and the customer proposition are central to our business, and our plan is built o retaining our loyal customer
base whilst also attracting new customers. Regular meetings of the internal Customer Board are held to ensure that customer
sentiment and satisfaction is at the heart of the Group cperations and decision making.

Community and Environment

The Group's approach is to continue to create a positive impact on the communities and environments in which we find ourselves. A
main consideration is to ensure that we reduce our impact as far as possible in terms of carbon and greenhouse gas emissions. We
have committed ta reducing our carbon footprint, with key measures including the rationalisation of multiple warehouses to one
central distribution centre, and we continue to monitor our performance in areas which directly affect our output and usage. See
further details on this in the Energy and carbon emissions section of the Strategic Report. In addition, the Group continues to
explore sustainability within the supply chain and product offering, both with third party and own brand products.

Sharehoiders
The board is committed to openly engaging with our shareholders, as we recognise the importance of a continuing effective
dialogue. # is important that our shareholders are kept up to date with latest objectives and strategies, therefore we communicate

these on a regular basis.

Consequences of long term decisions

The Group have consideration over the long term impact to stakeholders when making decisions. The board of the Mapil Topco
Group meet frequently and meet regularly with the SSU group to guide decisions in both the long and short term. Budgets are set
annually and adjusted quarterly to reflect current market and trading conditions. Long term plans and strategic goals are agreed and
progress against these is regularly communicated to staff through monthly town halls.

This Strategic Report was approved by the Board on 24 February 2023

By order of the Board:

A Bruce
Director

1000 Lakeside, Suite 310
Third Floor N E Wing
Portsmouth

POG 3EN
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Directors’ Report

The directors present their report and audited financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2022 (2021: year ended 26
September 2021),

Mapil Topco Limited is a direct parent of Mapil Midco 1 Limited, and the ultimate parent of the Group. The Group comprises two core
trading brands, Wiggle and Chain Reaction which together are referred to as “WiggieCR”.

Wiggle Limited is the main trading Company in the Group, in addition Wiggle Australia (Pty) Limited, Hotlines Europe Limited, and
Chain Reaction Cycles Retait Limited are also trading companies all controlled by Mapil Topco Limited ("the Group™). Chain Reaction
Cycles Limited provides management services to Wiggle Limited.

Details of the Campany's principal activity, performance, principal risks and uncertainties and risk management can be found in the
Strategic Report on pages 2 to 5.

Results and Dividend
The results for the year are shown on page 13. No dividends have been paid during the year (2021: £nil) and the directors do not
recommend the payment of a dividend (2021: £nil).

Going Concern

The directors have considered the principal activities of the Group, the business risks and uncertainties and the financial performance
for the year ended 30 September 2022 and up to the date of signing these accounts. The directors have prepared cash flow forecasts
for a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of these financial statements,

In making their assessment of the going concern assessment period, the directors have considered the impact of the acquisition of the
Group by SIGNA Sports United GmbH, the Group's funding arrangements and the Group'’s performance and cashflow projections.

Acquisition and Funding

The Group was acquired an 14 December 2021. As a result of this acquisition the Group's external shareholder debt of £246.8m
{(notes 13 and 14}, bank debt of £66.1m (note 14) and any accrued interest was settled by SIGNA Sports United GmbH. The
repayment of the bank debt removes all financial covenants and any new shareholder debt issued by SIGNA Sports United GmbH will
not have any financial covenants attached to it.

The Group now relies on funding from its shareholder, SIGNA Sports United GmbH. Funding issued by the shareholder is fixed rate
interest bearing and non-cash compounding, the principal and interest is payable on maturity, The shareholder funding drawn since
acquisition in December 2021 is €60.3m.

Business risks and uncertainties

The effects of the current economic uncertainty have been felt throughout the retail industry in the recent months and the future impact
of these uncertainties remains difficult to predict.

In addition, the Group is suffering from the aftereffects of the Covid pandemic. The Covid pandemic, and the iockdown periods in
particutar, led to a pull forward of revenue. During lockdown the Group saw increased demand both in the UK and internationally as
cycling, running and exercise more generally became more accessible and relevant to a wider customer base. This has meant that
customers who ordinarily purchase regularly have accelerated their purchasing into the lockdown period and have subsequently
purchased less in the periods foliowing the lifting of lockdown restrictions.

Profitability :
Operating profit before depreciation, amortisation, impairment, and gain on disposal {Adjusted EBITDA) decreased from a profit of
£34.2m for year ended 26 September 2021 to a loss of £41.8m for the year ended 30 September 2022. This included non-recurring
costs of £36.0m in relation to costs incurred due fo the sale of the Group, see note 4 for further detail. The reduction in the trading
resuits from £34.2m to (£6.8m) is being driven by the factors outlined in the Strategy and Business Review.

Closing cash at the 30 September 2022 was £3.2m, which comprised a net cash outflow from operating activities in the year of
£59 5m, which included non-recurring costs of £36.0m in relation to costs incurred due to the sale of the Group, a cash outfiow from
investing activities of £13.8m, and a cash inflow from financing activities of £30.9m. The Group has net current trading assets at the
pericd end {(being net current assets excluding amounts owed to shareholders detaited in note 13) totalling £25.5m, Closing cash as at
31 January 2023 was £2.6m.

The base'case forecasts indicate the Group wili be able to operale within the boundaries of the existing financial suppert provided by
the parent, including the letter of support detailed below, with sufficient headroom and cash availability.
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Going concern {continued)

Cash flow Projections

Detailed cash flow projections have been prepared which demonstrates the Group's funding requirement for the Going Concern
Assessment Period. These base projections include a year-on-year decrease in revenue, due to the challenging economic
environment, with a small increase in gross margin following a period of intense discounting to clear overstock, along with a reduction
in stock to reflect lower sales and improved working capital management.

These projections have been sensitised against a set of severe but plausible downside assumptions, being an average drop in
revenue against the base plan of (15%) and an average reduction in gross margin of {3%), along with higher werking capital
requirements.

SIGNA Sports United GmbH, parent of Mapil Topco Limited, has provided a letter of support indicating that SIGNA Sports United
GmbH will not be seeking repayment of any amounts currently outstanding, and commits to provide additional financial siipport of
£€18m over and above amounts already loaned. This financial support is conditional on the sharehelder loans being sufficient to avoid
an illiquidity based on the business plans of the Mapil Topco Limited Group. As with any Group placing reliance on other Group entities
for financial support, the directors acknowledge that there can be no certainty that this support will continue.

The support in ptace and the indications the directors have received from the parent, along with the forecasts prepared for the next
twelve months, which include the potential impacts of the economic uncertainties, have been used by the directors as a basis for their
assessment of going concern, The base case forecasts indicate that the financial support available as indicated in the |etter of support
would enable the Company to continue to trade and to settle its debts as they fall due for at least 12 months from the date of these
accounts, However, the directors have considered that the downside scenario indicates the potential requirement for additional funding
from the parent above the letter of support provided. The provision of additional funding wouid require further raising of finance, which
is not committed at the date of signing. Signa Sports United raises funding centrally to fund the operations of its business units. Signa
Sports United has a successful history of raising capital from third party investors and recently has received significant capital
commitments from affiliates of its largest shareholder. In the unlikely scenario where Signa Sports United's businesses require funding
above the capital commitments currently available to it, Signa Sports United believes that it would be successful in raising debt or
equity capital from third parties or existing shareholders.

The directors believe that it remains appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. However, the
achievement of forecasts and the avaitability of further financial support from the parent represents a material uncertainty that might
cast doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and therefore to continue realising its assets and discharging its
liabilities in the normal course of business. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that would resuit from this basis of
preparation being inappropriate.

Directors

The diractors who held office during the period and to the date of this report were as follows:
A Bruce

H Crwys-Williams .

M Davy (resigned 15 December 2021)

M Dunn {resigned 13 December 2021)

C Watson (resigned 15 December 2021}

The directors who held office at the end of the period had no disclosable interest in the shares of the Company.
The Group provides directors' and officers' insurance protection for all of the directors of the Companies in the Group.

People and colleagues

Equal opportunities

The Group values diversity and aims to ensure the effective use of colleagues in the best interest of both the Group and its people. it is
the policy of the Group to provide employment and development opportunities to persons regardiess of age, disability, gender
reassignment, marriage and civit partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation.

Employee engagement and participation

Employees are encouraged to participate actively in the business and with its strategy. Regular updates are held to inform employeaes
about the business performance and the main factors that deliver success, including financial and economic factors affecting the
Group. These include regular updates and conferences, where the Group communicates and engages with all employees on its key
priorities, business plans and the ongoing development of its brands. Employees are invited to participate in regular employee surveys
to facilitate and aid decision making on areas that affect their interests and concerns as employees.

Health and Safety
The safety of sur operations Is of great importance to us. There is a comprehensive structure of processes and procedures to mitigate
the health and safety risk, including risk assessment, accident reporting, nominated health and safety representatives across the

business and monthly reporting to the board.

Engagement with suppliers, customers and others In a business relationship with the Company
See the statement by the directors in performance of their statutory duties in accordance with s172(1) Companies Act 2006 on page 5
for further information in this area.
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Greenhouse gas emissions
See the statement by the directors in performance of their statutory duties on page 4 for further information in this area.

Charitable and Politlcal Contributions

The Group is committed to supporting the local community, both in respect of employment and social responsibility. We encourage
employees to take part in various community initiatives and charity events. The Group made no political or charitable coniributions
during the period (2021: £nif) .

Listed Debt

At 30 September 2022 the Group held listed loan notes of £nil {2021: £1939.1m} on The international Stack Exchange in the Channel
Islands. The listed debt was repaid on 14th December 2021. All of the listed debt was held by the Group's uitimate shareholders until

repayment.
Disclosure of Information to Auditor
The directnrs who held office at the date of approval ol this Directors' Keport confirm that, so far as they are each aware, there is no

relevant audit information of which the Company's Auditor is unaware; and each director has taken all the steps that he cught to have
taken as a director to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's Auditor is aware of that

information.

Auditor
KPMG LLP were appointed as the Company's auditor during the period, Pursuant to section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the
auditor will be deemed 1o be reappointed and KPMG LLP will therefore continue in office.

The Directors’ Report was approved by the Board on 24 February 2023

By order of the Board:

A

A Bruce
Director

1000 Lakeside, Suite 310
Third Floor N E Wing
Portsmouth

P06 3EN
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of the Annual Report, Strategic Report, the Directors’ Reports and the
Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report and the Group and parent
Company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and parent Company financial statements for each financial year. Under that faw
they have elected to prepare both the Group and the parent Company financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted
international accounting standards and applicable law. '

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group and parent Company and of the Group's profit or loss for that period. in preparing each of the
Group and parent Company financial statements, the directors are required to:

+ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

= make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant and reliable;

« state whether they have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards;

- assess the Group and parent Company's ability to continue as a going cencern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern; and

« use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent Company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the parent Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent Company and enable them to
ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are responsible for such intemnal control as they
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financia! statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reascnably open to them to safeguard the assets of the
Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF MAPIL TOPCO LIMITED

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Mapil Topco Limited {"the Company”) for the year ended 30 September 2022 which
comprise the consclidated income statement and statement of other comprehensive income; consolidated and company statement of
financial position; consolidated and compary statement of changes in equity; consolidated and company statement of cash flows and
related notes, including the accounting policies in note 2.

fn our opinion:

- the financial statements give a frue and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent Company's affairs as at 30 September
2022 and of the Group's loss for the year then ended;

+ the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted intemational accounting standards;,

+ the parent Company financiat statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting
standards and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

- the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2008.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Awuditing (UK} ("ISAs (UK}") and applicable law. Our
responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethicatl responsibilities under, and are independent of the Group in
accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit svidence we have obtained is
a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

Matetrial uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to note 2 to the financial statements which indicates that the Company's ability to continue as a going concem is
dependent on the continued financiat support from its ultimate parent company, SIGNA Sports United GmbH. The availability of support
over and above amounts committed by way of letter of support is uncertain. These events and conditions, along with the other matters
axplained in nota 2, constitute a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Going concern basis of preperation

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis. As stated above, they have concluded that a material
uncertainty related to going concern exists.

Our conclusion based on our financial statements audit work: we consider that the directors” use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect
ictantifying and responding o risks of material misstatement due to fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (“fraud risks™) we assessed events or conditions that could indicate an incentive
or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Cur risk assessment procedures included:

+ Enquiring of directors and management as to the Group’s high-level policies and procedures to prevent and detect fraud as well as
whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud;

* Reading Board minutes;

« Considering remuneration incentive schemes and performance targets including the Long-term Incentive Plan scheme and bonus
plan and employee share gwards granted in connection with the listing of the Company's ultimate parent company, SIGNA Sports
United GmbH;

+ Using analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications of fraud throughout the audit.

As reguired by auditing standards; and considering possible pressures to meet profit targets; we perform procedures to address the risk
of management override of controls; in particular the risk that Group management may be in a position to make inappropriate
accounting entries.

We do not believe there is a fraud rigk related to revenue recognition over the recording of online retail transactions because there is
limited pressure, rationalisation, and opportunity for Management to commit fraud in relation to revenue recegnition, and revanue
recognition does not require any material estimates or judgments. We therefore regard the fraud risk associated with revenue
recognition to relate to the manipulation of revenue through Management Override of Control, in particular the posting of erroneocus
journals.

We did not identify any additional fraud risks.

In determining the audit procedures, we considerad the results of our evaluation and testing of the operating effectiveness of some of
the Group-wide fraud risk management controls. We also performed procedures including:

+ Identifying journal entries and other adjustments to test for afl full scope components based on risk criteria and comparing the
identified entries to supporting documentation. Risk criteria included consideration of results being under budget, and therefore
potential management incentive over the achievement of results in the subsequent year. Journal entries tested included debit postings
to revenue, cost of sales and/or expense accounts with an unexpected credit posting, and both credit and debit postings to cash where
the other side was unexpected,

+ Assessing whether the |udgernents made in making accounting estimates are indicalive of a potential blas.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF MAPIL TOPCO LIMITED {CONTINUED)

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect {continued)

identifying and responding to risks of material misstaternent due to non-compliance with laws and regulations

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the financial statements
from our general commercial and sector experience and through discussion with the directors and other management (as required by
auditing standards), and from inspection of the Group's regulatory and legal correspondence and discussed with the directors and other
management the policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations.

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications of non-compliance
throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Group is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including financial reporting legislation
(including refated companies’ legislation), distributable profits legislation, taxation legislation and we assessed the extent of compliance
with these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial statement items,

Secondly, the Group is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance could have a material
effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through the imposition of fines or litigation or the loss of the
Group's license to operate, We identified the following areas as those most likely to have such an effect: data protection laws and
employment law, recognising the nature of the Group's activities. Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to identify non-
compliance with these laws and regulations to enquiry of the directars and inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any.
Therefore, if a breach of operational regulations is not disclosed to us or evident from relevant correspondence, an audit will not detect
that breach,

Gontext of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or reguiation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detecied some material misstatements
in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards.

For example, the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the
financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited procedures required by auditing standards would identify it. In addition, as with
any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal contrals. Our audit procedures are designed to detect material misstatement.

We are not responsible for preventing non-compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and
regulations.

Strategic report and directors’ report

The directors are responsible for the strategic report and the directors’ reporl. Qur opinion on the financial statements does not cover
thase reports and we do not express an audit opinion thereon.

Qur responsibility is to read the strategic report and the directors” report and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial
statements audit work, the information therein is materially misslated or inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit
knowledge. Based solely an that work:

» we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors’ report;

+ in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with the financial statements; and

+ in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company, or returns adeduate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

- the parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and refurns; or

« certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or

+ we have not received all the information and explanations we reguire for our audit

We have nothing to report in these respects.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TG THE MEMBERS OF MAPIL TOPCQ LIMITED (CONTINUED)

Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page @ the directors are responsible for: the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Group and
parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent Company or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstaternent, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor's report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 15As (UK} will always detect a material misstatement
when It exists, Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could
reaschiably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC's website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.
QOur audit work has besn undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members those matters we are required to state to them
in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fuilest extent permitted by law, we do not accept of assume responsibility to
anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have
formed.

Oetafion fonsd

Natasha Jones (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalif of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

Gateway House

Tollgate

Chandlers Ford

S0S533TG

24 February 2023
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Company Number: 07862446 MAPIL TOPCO LIMITED
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For the year ended 30 September 2022

Consolidated Income Statement and Statement of Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 September 2022
{2021: For the year ended 26 September 2021}

30 September 26 September

2022 2021

Note £'000 £000

Revenue 3 252,549 380,338
Cost of sales (171,241) (227,189)
Gross profit 81,308 133,149
Selling and distribution expenses (38,056) (49,311)
Administrative expenses 4 (85,049) (49,682)
amortsation, mpament and gain on disposa ut.7o7) 34,156
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 4 {14,264) (10,529)
Gain on disposal 3 1,483
Operating (loss} / profit (56,058) 25,110
Echange oss) g on bk de and e ; (a5t
Other interest payable and similar charges 6 (1,315) {5,219)
e et o streolders ivestrsanaren g @sos) a7
Loss before tax (97,041) (14,555)
Taxation 7 (14,147} 12,969
Loss for the period (111,188) {1,586)

All results are from continuing operations.

There are no other comprehensive gains or losses for the current or preceding financial period.

The notes on pages 18 to 38 are an integral part of these financial statements.

13



Company Number: 07362446 MAPIL. TQPCO LIMITED
Annual Report and Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 September 2022

C lidated and G y & of Fil ial Position

P

At 30 September 2022
{2021; At 28 September 2021)

Group Group Company Company
30 Sep b 26 Septemb 30 Sep 26 Sey
2022 201 2022 2021
Note ) £'008 £000 £'000 £000
Non-current assets
Investments 10 - - - -
Intangible assets 8 162.711 98,771 - -
Tangible assets 8 22,851 25,463 - -
Deferred tax assets 7 1,148 14,461 - B
Trade and other receivables 12 - - 33,967 122
Total non-cusrent assets 126,707 138,695 33,967 122
Current assets
Inventory 11 79.297 60,669 - -
Trade anrd other receivables 12 11,559 9,837 867 -
Cash and cash squivalents 3.219 46,864 - -
Total current assets 94,075 117,370 867 -
Current llabiiities
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 13 (68.567) (69,358} {43,841) (7.484)
Total current liabllities (68.567) (68,358) {43,841) (7,484)
Net currant assets / (Habillties) 25,508 48,012 {42,874) (7,362)
Total assets lags current liabilities 152,215 186,707 {8,007) (7,362)
Non-currenit liahilities
Craditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 14 (53,159) (408,878) {34,956) (82,317
Provisions for liabilities and charges 15 {2,059} (2,741) - -
Defarred tax liabikty 7 {1,145} (145%) - -
Total non-current liabittlies (56,363) {413,079 (34,956) (82,317)
Net assets / {liabilities) 95,852 (226,383 (43,863) {89,679}
Capital and regervas
Share capital 16 52 46 52 46
Share premium 16 186,250 127,697 186,250 127,697
Shars based paymenis 17 731 - 731 -
Capital contribution 16 446,122 72,430 408,535 34,8423
Profit and loss N (537,303) (426,536) (639,531} (252,265)
Total equity 85,852 (226,363) (43,963} {89.679)

The notes on pages 18 lo 38 are an integral part of these financial statements,

These financial stelements were approved by the board of Directors on 24 February 2023,

Signed on behalf of the board of Directors

A Bruce

Director
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Company Number: 07862446

Consolidated and Company Statement of Changes in Equity

At 30 September 2022

Grou

At 27 September 2026

Loss for the period

Total comprehensive income

At 26 September 2021

Loss for the period

Total comprehensive income

Capital contribution

Setllement of preference shares as equity
Share based payments

At 30 September 2022

Company

At 27 Septemher 2620

Loss for the period

Total comprehensive Income

At 26 September 2021

Loss for the period

Total comprehenslive income

Capital cantribution

Setlement of preference shares as equity
Share based paymenis

At 30 Septembar 2022

MAPLL TOPCO LIMITED
Annual Report and Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 September 2022

Capital Share based

Share Share  contribution paymenis Retained Total
capital premium reserve reserve earnings equity
£000 £'000 £9000 £'000 £'000 £'000
46 127,697 72,430 - {424,950} (224,777

- - - - (1,588) (1,686)

. - - - {1,586} {1,588)

46 127,697 72,430 - (426,536) (226,363)

- - - - {111,188) {111,188)

- - - - (111,188} {111,188)

. - 373,692 - - 373,692

6 58,553 - - - 58,559

- - - 73 A2Y 1,152

52 186,250 446,122 731 (537,303) 95,852

Capital Share based

Share Share  contribution payments Retained Total
capital premtium reserve reserve sarnings equity
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000
48 127,697 34,843 - (245.476) (82,890}
" - M - (6,789) (6,789)
- - - - (6,789) (6,789)
46 127.697 34,843 - (252,265) (89,679)
- - - - (387,687) (387,687)
- - - - (387.687) (387,687)

- - 373,692 - - 373,692

6 58,553 - - - 58,559

- - - 731 42 1,152 |

52 186,250 408,535 731 (639,531) (43,963)

The notes on pages 18 to 38 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Company Number: 07862446 MAPIL TOPCO LIMITED
Annual Report and Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 September 2022

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 30 September 2022
{2621 for the year srided 26 Sepltembear 2021}

30 September 26 September

2022 2021
£'000 £'000

GCash flows from operating activitias
Lass for the pericd fram continuing operations {111,188) (1,586)
Adjustments for:

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 14,264 10,529

[Decrease) Increase in provision for dilapidations {683} 1,080

Gain on disposals (3} (1,484}

Nei foreign exchange {gain) / loss 14,618 (4,304)

Net finance cost 26,365 42,917

Tax charge / {credit) 14,147 {12,969)
Movements in working capital:

Increase in inventories {18,628} {7,455)

(Increase) f decrease in trade and other receivables (1.635) 604

Increase / (decraase) in trade and other payables 6,008 {15,855)
Cash flows from operations {56,735) 11,477
Tax paid (925) @
Interest paid (1,792) {1,664)
Net cash flows (used in) / from operating activities {59,452) 9,804
Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for intangible assets, property, plant and equipment (13,756} (7.098)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment - 2,853
Net cash flows used in investing activities (13,756) (4,245)
Cash flows from financing activities
Drawdown of loans from Parent . 32,517 -
Repaymant of bank loans - (6,280)
Payment of lease labilities {1,624) 2,071
Net cash flows from / (used In} financing 30,893 {8,351)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (42,315} (2,792)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents {42,315) (2,792}
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 46,864 49,306
Effects of exchange rate changes an cash and cash equivalents held in foreign currencies {1.,330) 350
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 3,219 46,864

The notes on pages 18 to 33 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Company Number: 07862446 MAPIL TOPCO LIMITED
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For the year ended 30 September 2022

Company Cash Flow Statement
{or the year ended 30 September 2022
{2021: for the year ended 26 Septembar 2021)

A cashiiow statement is not prepared for the Company as it doesn't have a bank account and there have not been any cash transactions in either the
current of the comparative period.

The notes on pages 18 to 3B are an integral parn of thase financial statements.
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Company Number: 07862446 MAPIL TOPCO LIMITED
Annual Report and Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 September 2022

Notes to the financial statements

1. General information

Mapil Topco Limited (the “Company’} incorperated in the United Kingdom on 28 November 2011 with company number 07862446, The registered
address of the Company is 1000 Lakeside, Suite 310, Third Floor, N E Wing, Portsmaouth, PO& 3EN, United Kingdom. On 7 December 2011, the
Company acquired Mapil Midco 1 Limited whose primary trading subsidiary undertaking was Wiggle Limited. On 7 July 20186, the Group acquired the
Chain Reactions Cycles Group and the brand became WiggleCRC (subsequently WiggleCR from November 2021). Wiggle Limited is the main
rading enlity of the Group. In addition the Company wholly owns the subsidiaries listed in note 11, which together form Mapil Topco Limited {the
“Group”). The Group's controlling shareholder is SIGNA Sports United GmbH (SSU) follawing the successful acquisition of the Mapil Topco Group on
14th December 2021. The regislefed office of SSU is Kanstrasse 164, Upper West, D-10623 Berlin,

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
A summary of the significant accounting policies is set out below; these have been applied consistently in the financial period.

Staternent of compliance
These consolidated financial statements have bean prepared in accordance with international financial reporting standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006

Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost convention as modified by financiat
instruments at fair value through the profit and loss, they are presented in sterling (£'000).

Historicail cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration in exchange for goods and services,

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated usiftg another valuation technigue. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group iakes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would fake those characteristics
inlo account when pricing the asset or hiability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement andlor disclosure purposes in these
conselidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 18, and measurements that have some similarity to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in IAS 2 or value in use in |AS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which inputs to the
fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

- Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

- Levet 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observabie for assets o liabilities,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly {i.e. Derived from prices); and

- Level 3: inputs for assets or kiabilities that are not based on observable market dala {unobservable inputs).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. 1 also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas invalving a higher degree of judgement, complexity or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in this note below {Significanm accounting estimates
and assumptions).

Guing Concern

The directors have considered the principal activities of the Group, the business risks and uncertainties and the financial performance for the year
ended 30 September 2022 and up to the date of signing these accounts. The directors have prepared cash flow forecasts for a period of at least 12
manths from the date of approval of these financial statements.

In making their assessment of the going concern assessment period, the directors have considered the impact of the acquisition of the Group by
SIGNA Sports United GmbH, the Group's funding arrangements and the Group's performance and cashflow projections.

Acquisition and Funding

The Group was acquired on 14 December 2021, As a resull of this acquisition the Group’s external shareholder debt of £246.8m (notes 13 and 14),
bank debt of £66.1m {note 14) and any accrued interest was settled by SIGNA Sports Unite¢ GmbH. The repayment of the bank debt removes ail
financial covenants and any new sharehokler debt issued by SIGNA Sports United GmbH will not have any financial covenants attached to it.

The Group now relies on funding from its shareholder, SIGNA Sports United GmbH. Funding issued by the shareholder is fixed rate interest bearing
and non-cash compounding, the principal and interest is payable on maturity. The shareholder funding drawn since acquisition in December 2021 is
€60.3m.

Busginess risks and uncertainties

The effects of the current economic uncertainty have been felt throughout the retail industry in the recent months and the future impact of these
uncertainties remains difficult 1o predict.

In addition, the Group is suffering from the aftereffects of the Covid pandemic. The Covid pandemic, and the lockdown periods in particutar, led to a
pult forward of revenue. During lockdown the Group saw increased demand both in the UK and internationally as cycling, running and exafcise more
generally became more accessible and relevant to a wider customer base. This has meant that customers who ordinarily purchase regularly have
accelerated their purchasing into the lockdown period and have subsequently purchased less in the periods following the lifting of lockdown
restrictions.

Prafitability

Operating profit before depreciation, amortisation, impairment, and gain on dispoasal {Adjusted EBITDA) decreased from a profit of £34.2m for year
ended 26 September 2021 to a loss of £41.8m for the year ended 30 September 2022. This included non-recurring costs of £36.0m in relation to
costs incurred due fo the sale of the Group, see note 4 for further detail. The reduction In the trading results from £34.2m to (£5.8m) is heing driven
by the factors outlined in the Strategy and Business Review.

Closing cash at the 30 September 2022 was £3.2m, which comprised a net cash outflow from operaling activities in the year of £59.5m, which
included non-recurring costs of £36.0m in refation to costs incurred due to the sale of the Group, a cash outflow from investing activities of £13.8m,
and a cash inflow from financing activities of £30.9m. The Group has net current trading assets at the period end (being net current assets excluding
amournits owed fo shareholders detailed in note 13} totalling £25.5m. Closing cash as at 31 January 2023 was £2.6m.

The base case forecasts indicate the Group will be able to operate within the boundaries of the existing financial support provided by the parent,
including the letter of support detailed below, with sufficient headroom and cash availability,
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Notas to the financial statements {continued)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies {continued}

Going Concern {continued)

Cash flow Projections

Detailed cash flow projections have been prepared which demonstrates the Group’s funding requirement for the Going Concern Assessment Period.
These base projections include a year-on-year decrease in revenue, due 1o the challenging economic environmen, with a small increase in gross
margin following a period of intense discounting to clear overstock. along with a reduction in stock to reflect Jower sales and improved working capital
management.

These projections have been sensitised against a set of severe but plausible downside assumptions, being an average drop in revenue against the
base pian of (15%) and an average reduction in gross margin of (3%), along with higher working capital requirements.

SIGNA Sports United GmbH, parent of Mapil Topco Limited, has provided a letter of support indicating that SIGNA Sports United GmbH will not be
seeking repayment of any amounis currently outstanding, and commits to provide additional financial support of €18m over and above amounts
already loaned. This financtal support is conditional on the shareholder loans being sufficient to avoid an illiquidity based on the business plans of the
Mapil Topco Limited Group. As with any Group placing reliance on other Group entities for financial support, the directors acknowledge that there can
be no certainty that this suppornt will continue.

The support in place and the indications the directors have received from the parent, along with the forecasts prepared for the next twelve months,
which inciude the potential impacts of the economic uncertainties, have been used by the directors as a basis for their assessment of going concern.
The base case forecasts indicate that the financial support available as indicated in the lefter of support would enable the Company to continue to
trade and 1o settle its debts as they fall due for at least 12 months from the date of these accounts. However, the directors have considered that the
downside scenario indicates the potential requirement for additional funding from the parent above the letter of support provided. The provision of
additional funding would require further raising of finance, which is not committed at the date of signing. Signa Sports United raises funding centrally
to fund the operations of its business units, Signa Sports United has a successful history of raising capital from third party investors and recently has
received significant capital commiiments from affiliates of its largest sharehotder. In the unlikely scenario where Signa Sports United’s businesses
require funding above the capital commitments currently available to it, Signa Sports United believes that it would be successful in raising debt or
equity capital from third parties or existing shareholders.

The directors believe that it remains appropriate to prepare the financial statoments on a going concern basis. However, the achievement of forecasts
and the availability of further financial support frem the parent represents a materiai uncertainty that might cast doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern and therefore to continue realising its assets and discharging its labilities in the normal course of business. The financiat
statements do not incllide any adjustments that would result from this basis of preparation being inappropriate.

Subsidiaries
Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable retums from its
involvernent with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity, In assessing controf, the Group takes into
consideration potential voting rights. The acquisition date is the date on which control is transferred to the acquirer. The financial statements of
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated, Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Revenue

Revenue arising from sales represents the invoiced amounts of goods, adjusted at the period end for items which have yet to reach the customer,
stated net of value added tax. Revenue arising from the sale of gift vouchers is deferred and recognised at the point of redemption. An expiration
assumption is applied to customer vouchers based on historic voucher expiry data, There are no other performance obligations arising from the sale
of goods to customers that require disaggregation. Righis to retum are estimated based on historic returns data and an estimate of sales to be
refunded and stock returned made within the accounts. There are no separable or enhanced warranties that are sold to customers that would require
disaggregation.

Cost of sales
Cost of sales includes the cost of goods sold and all direct costs associated with landing these goods into the warehouse, including import duty and
import freight. The cost of damaged and lost stock is included within cost of sales as is the impairment of stock from cost to net realisable value.

Pensions

The Group operates a defined contribution scheme and pays contributions to publicly or privately administered pension plans. The Group has ne
further payment cbligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are
due.

Net finance costs

Net finance costs comprises interest payable, finance charges on finance leases, interast receivable on funds invested and foreign exchange gains
and losses, that are recognised in the income statement. Interest income and interest payable is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using the
effective interest method.

Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date ere retransiated to the functional
currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date, Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income statement.
Non.monetary assets and labilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign cumrency are translated using the exchange rate at the
date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are retranslated to the
functional currency at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.

The assets and liablitities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, are translated to the Group's

presentational currency, sterling, at foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are
translated at an average rate for the year where this rate approximales to the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.

19



Company Number: 07862446 MAPIL TOPCO LIMITED
Annual Report and Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 September 2022

Notes to the flnancial statements {continued)

2. Summary of significant accounting pelicies (continued)

Intangible assets
Acquired intangible assets are capitalised at costs incurred to acquire and bring to into use. These costs are amorised over their estimated usehlt

lives as follows:

Asset Class Amortisation Policy
Goodwill Annual impairment review
intellectual Property:
Brands 5to 12 years
Customer relationships 5 years
Customer database 3108 years
Trademarks 10 years or registered life if shorter
Software ard licenses 210 10 years

Certain costs incurred in connection with the development of software to be used internally or for providing services to customers are capitalised once
a project has progressed beyond a conceptual, preliminary stage 1o that of application development Development costs thal e directly attributable
to the design and testing nf identifiablo and unigue software products controlled by the Group are recognised as intangible assets when the following
criteria are met:

it is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;

management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it;

there is an ability to use or sell the software product;

it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probabie future economic benefits;

adequate technical, financial and other rescurces to complete the development and to use or sell the software
product are available; and

» the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured.

Costs that guakfy for capitalisation include both internal and external costs, but are limited to those that are directly related to the specific project.
Computer software costs are included at capitalised costs less accumulated amortisation and any recognised impairment loss.

Useful lives are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted if appropriate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment. Depreciation is provided to write off
the cost less the eslimated residual value, of tangible fixed assets over their estimated useful economic lives as follows:

Asset Class Depreciation Policy
Leasehold land and buildings . 5to 50 years
Equipment and fixtures:
Computer and communications equipment 2to 4 years
Fixtures, fittings and fumniture 5to 7 years
Plant and machinery 3to 5 years
Muotor vehicles 4 years

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount I the higher of an asset's fair value fess costs to sell and value in use. Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are
independent from other assets, the Company estimates the recovetable amount of the cash-generating unit (*CGU") to which the asset belongs. For
tangibles and intangibles the allocation is made to those CGU units that are expected to benefit from the asset.

Any impairment charge is recognised in the income statement in the period in which it occurs. With the exception of goodwill; when an impairment
loss subsequently reverses due to a change in the original estimate, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount providing it doesn't exceed the original carrying amount before impairment. Any impairment loss related to goodwill is non
reversible.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contraciual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair valre. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and Kabifities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through the profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through the profit or loss are recognised immadiately in profit or loss.

Effective interest method

The effective interast method is a method of calculating amortised cost of a financial instrument and allocating interest over the relevant period. The
affective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows related to the financial instrument over its expected life, or where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

20



Company Number: 07862446 MAPIL TOPCO LIMITED
Annual Report and Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 September 2022

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial Instruments (continued)
Financial Agsels
Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair value through profit or loss' (FVTPL) and "loans and
teceivables'. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulafion or cenvention in the marketplace.

Financial assets at FVTPL .

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset is (i) contingent consideration that may be paid by an acguirer as part of a
business combination to which IFRS 3 applies, (i) held for trading, or (iii) it is designated as at FVTPL, Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair
value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurements included in profit of loss. Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 19.

Loans and receivables

t pans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market | nan< and
recefvables (including trade and nther receivables, bank calances arnd cash} are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
any impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short term receivables when the effect of discounting is immaterial.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as either finangial liabilities ‘at FVTPL' or ‘other financial liabilities’.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial lability is (i) contingent consideration that may be paid by an acquirer as part of a
business combination to which IFRS 3 applies, (i) held for trading, or {iii} it is designated as at FVTPL. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair
value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurements included in profit or loss.

Other financial fiabilifies
Other financial liabilities (including borrowings and trade and other payables) are subsequently remeasured at amortised cost using the effective

interest rate mathod.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecagnises a financial liability when the criteria for derecognition are met such as when, the Group's obligations are discharged,
cancelied or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial jiability derecognised and consideration paid or payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Leasing

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost,
which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial
direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, less any lease incentives received. :

The right-of-use asset is subsequenily depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful
life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lpase term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those
of property and equipment, In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain
remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease kkability is initially measured at the present vaiue of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group's incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.,

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:
® fixed payment, including in-substance fixed paymenits.
® variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date
® amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and
@ the exercise price under a purchase option that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise, leases payments in an optional renewal period if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably certain not
to terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease
payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group's estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee, or if the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. When the
lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit
or toss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in “tangible assets” and lease fiabilities in "creditors:
amounts falling due within one year" or "creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year" in the statement of financial position.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group has elected net to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases of machinery that have a lease term of 12
months or less and leases of low-value assets, including 1T equipment. The Group recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease tarm.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Inventory
Provision is made for those ilems of inventory where the net realisable value is estimated to be lower than cost. Net realisable value is based on both
historical expefience and assumptions regarding future selling prices, and is consequently & source of estimation uncertainty. The key estimation
uncerainties relate to the level of price adjustment that would be required to stimulate demand on slower-selling lines; the estimate of future selling
prices based on historical levels achieved and specific pricing plans; and the assumptions around demand levels for product types.

A sensitivity has been carried oul on the carrying value of inventory. A 10% reduction in the current selling price of products would tause a £0.7m
increase 1o the inventary provision; and a 10% increase in price would lead to a £0.5m decrease to the inveniary provision.

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly atiributable to the acquisition, construction or preduction of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get feady for their intended use or sale, are added 1o the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the periogd in which they are
incurred.

Current taxation

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured a1 lie amount expected fo be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authonties. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date.
lncome tax relating to items recognised in comprehensive income or directly In equity is recognised in comprehensive income or equity and not in the
income statement.

Deferred taxation

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes, with the following exceptions:

® where the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither aceounting nor
taxable profit or toss;

# in respect of {axable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing of the
reversal of the iemporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future;

#» and deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which deductible temporary differences, carried forward tax credits or tax losses can be ulilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assels is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply te the period when the asset is realised or the
liabifity is setiled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Employee benefits

Shori-term emplayee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the relatec service is provided. A liability is
recognised for the amount expected to be paid under incentives if the Group has a present legal or constructive abligation 1o pay this amount as a
result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Termination benefils are recognised as an expense when the company is demonstrably committed, without realistic possibility of withdrawal, 1o a
formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the nomal retirement date, or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made
to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognised as an expense if the company has made an offer
of valuntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances can be estimated reliably. If benefits are
payable more than 12 months after the reporting date, then they are discounted to their present value.

Share-based payment arrangements

The Mapil Topco group hold both cash settled and equity settied share based payment schemes, as explained below.

Equity settled share-based payment trangactions are measured at the fair value of the goods or services received, except where that fair vatue
cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity
obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service,

For cash-settled share-based payments, a liability is recognised for goods or services acquired, measured initially at the fair value of the liability. At
each reporting date until the liability is settied, and at the date of settiement, the fair value of the liability Is remeasured. with any changes in fair value
recegnised in the profit or loss for that year. All schemes have no jeavers provisions included as there is no requirement of continued service.

The Mapil company schemes are two schemes held with the employee benefit trust (EBT), being a cash settled deferred scheme and an unallecated
equity settied scheme. A share based payment reserve is held representing the cost of shares in Signa Sports United N.V. purchased on the market
and held by the Employee Benefit Trust to satisfy options under the Groups share option plans. Details regarding the determination of the fair value of
share-based payment transactions and valuation methodology are set out in Notes 16 and 17.

In addition to these, there are two equity schemes which are held with group entities and relate to a Retention Bonus held with key management
personnel and an PO bonus which is granted to all employees who meet a length of service criteria upon the acquisition. The share awards for these
schemaes will be satisfied by SSU N.V., with a recharge to the relevant employer company in the Mapit Topco group equat to the value of the relevani
IFRSZ charge, and this has been recorded as a liability in the financial statements,

Significant accounting estimates and assumptions

These consclidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Intemational Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS") as adopted
for use by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB™), in conformity with the requirements of the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee ("IFRIC") interpretations and in conformity with the Cempanies Act 2008, which require estimates and assumptions o be
made that affect the value at which certain assets and liabifities are held at the balance sheet date and alse the amounts of revenue and expenditure
recorded in the period. The direclors befieve the accounting policies chosen are appropriate to the circumstances and that the estimates and
assumptions involved in its financial reporting are reasonable.

Accounting estimates made by the Group's management are based on information available to management at the time each astimate Is made.
Accordingly, actual outcomes may differ materially from eurrent expeclations under different assumptions and conditions, The estimates and
assumptions for which there is a significant risk of a material adjustment to the financial staternents within the next financial year are set out below.
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Significant Estimates and Assuimplions

Inventory

Provision is made for those items of inventory totalling £79.3m (2021. £60.1m) whers the net realicable valus is estimated to be lower than cost, and
totals £4.4m (2027: £2 4m). Net realisable value is based on both historical experience and assumptions regarding future selling prices, and is
consequently a source of estimation uncertainty. The key estimation uncertainties relate 1o the level of price adjustment that would be required to
stimulate demand on slower-selling lines; the estimate of future selling prices based on historical levels achieved and specifie pricing plans; and the
assumptions around demand levels for praduct types,

A sensitivity has been ¢arried out on the carying value of inventory. A 10% reduction in the current setling price of products would cause a £0.7m
increase to the inventory provision; and a 10% increase in price would lead to a £0.5m decrease to the inventory provision,

In addition to the estimate mentionad above. the following has been identified as an area that involves some degree of estimation but are not
considered to be at significant risk of material adjustment in the next financial year:

Goodwill Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Company's and the Group's assets other than inventories and deferred lax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet
date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. An impairment oss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its
cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount The value in uso it romcasured baswd upon recent pertormance and the future financial plans,
the key assumptions in calculating the value in use are the revenue and margin growth rates along with the cost parcentages, discount rate and
terminal growth rate. Impairment losses are racognised in the income statement, Brought forward impairments of £192.9m in relation to Goodwill and
£192.9m in relation to subsidiary investments are recognised in the Group and Company balance sheets respectively. Refer to Note 8 for sensitivity
analysis over Goodwill impairment.

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event, that can be reliably measured and it Is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period and are
discounted to present value where the effect is material.

Dilapidation provisions are recorded where landlords’ assets have been altered or damaged during a lease and a cost is anlicipated to be incurred in
restoring these assets.

Asset retirement provisions are racorded at the outset of a lease when Group assets are installed in a landlord's premises and a material cost is
anticipated 1o remove them at the end of the lease term. Such provisions are calculated based on the anticipated cost of removal today, as adjusted
for expected inflation over the lease term, with these cash flows being discounted to result in the provision. Changes in the estimate of the gross cost
of removing assets are capitalised into fixed assets.

3. Revenue by geographic location 30 Sep 26 Sep
2022 2021
£'000 £'000

United Kingdom 156,049 230,661
Rest of Europe 21,134 52,720
Rest of World 75,366 76,957
252,549 360,338

This analysis is based on the geographical location of customers, Rest of Europe represents sales to alt countries within Europe.

Expenses and auditor's remuneration

During the year, the Mapil Topeo group was acquired by SSU Group. As part of this transaction there were significant legal and professional fees,
share based payment charges and staff costs incurred which relate directly to the acquisition, which have been disclosed below. There is no
comparative data for these as the charges disclosed above alt relate directly to the acquisition costs.

30 Sep 26 Sep

Included in the income staternent for the period are the foltowing items: 2022 2021

Within administrative expenses £'000 £'000
Legal and professional fees 14,814 -
Acguisition staff costs 15,280 -
Share based payments 6,126 -
36.020 -

30 Sep 26 Sep

2022 2021

Operating profit is stated after charging: £'000 £'000
Depreciation of tangible assets 3,787 3,611
Amortisation of intangible assets 5.714 6.918
Impairment of intangible assets 4,763 -
Research and development expenditure 198 193
14,462 10,722

Gain on disposal of tangible assets (3) {1483)
14,459 9,239




MAPIL TOPCC LIMITED
Annual Report and Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 September 2022

Company Number: 07862446

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

4. Expenses and auditor’s remuneration {continued) 30 Sep 26 Sep
2022 2021

Auditor’s remurieration: E'Q00 £000
Audit services 1,116 1,138
Other services relating to taxation and advisory services 138 102
1,254 1,240

5. Employee numbers and costs 30 Sep 26 Sep
2022 2021
Costs of Group employees {excluding directors) during the peried amounted to: £000 £000
Wages and salaries 26,297 28,802

Share based payments 3,189 -

Soclal security costs 2,508 2,470

Other Pension Costs 1,077 1,087
Healthcare Costs 158 123

33,229 32,482

Average number of employees employed by the Group, including directors employed by the Group, during the period analysed by category, was as

follows:
30 Sep 26 Sep
2022 2021
Number Number
Directors 2 2
Head office and administration 516 512
Warehouse 284 358
802 872

Directors' emoluments

Compensation of key management personnel
Key management includes the directors as identified in the directors’ report. The compensation paid or payable to key management for employee

services 1o Group companies within the Group is shown below:

30 Sep 26 Sep

2022 2021
£'000 £'000

Shor-term emplayee benefits 7,563 591
Long-term employee benefits LY =
5,070 393

Highest paid director

Some of the directors are not included as employees of the group. The services of the directors are incidental to their duties for other companies and
consequently ho emoluments have been accrued to ther during the year.
Retiremem benefits are accruing to zero (2021. zerp) directors under a money purchase scheme.

At the petiod-end £195,068 (2021: £1,067,590) was owed to the directors in respect of short-term and long-term incentive plans.

8. Finance income and finance cost 30 Sep 26 Sep
2022 2021
£'000 £'000

Foreign currency loss / (gain)

Exchange toss / {gain) on bank debt and cother foreign currency balances 14,618 {4,304)

interest payable and similar charges

Other interest payable and similar charges

Bank interest and other similar charges 304 4,002

Interest on lease liability 1.000 1,052

Loan cost amortisation relating to bank loans 11 5

1,315 5,219

Interest payahle to shareholders, investors and non consolidated Group companies

Payable to shareholders 9,835 38,714

Loan cost amantisation relating to shareholder and investor loans 64 36

Payable to non consolidated group companies 16,151 -
25,050 38,750
40,983 39,665

Total interest payable and similar charges
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7. Taxation

Recognised in the income statement
Current tax

Current tax on incorme for the period
Adjustments in respect of prior periods
Total current tax

Deferred tax

Crigination and reversal of temporary differences
Adiustments in respect of prior periods

Recognition of previously unrecognised Capital Alowances
Recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses
PDerscognition of Deferred Tax Asset

Remeasurement of Deferred Tax for changes in tax rate
Total deferred tax

Tax charge / (credit} in the Income Statement

Reconciliation of effective income tax credit
The charge for the period can be reconciled to the loss per the income statement as folfows:

Loss before tax

Weighted average tax rate

At the weighted average income tax rate

Income not taxable for tax purposes

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes

Fixed asset differences

Research and development credit

Remeasurement of deferred tax for changes in tax rates
Derecognition of previausly recognised Capital Allowances
Other movement in deferred tax

Tax relieved due to utilisation of losses

Perecognition of previously recognised tax losses
Movement in deferred tax not recognised

Adjustments in respect of prior periods

MAPIL TOPCO LIMITED
Annual Report and Financial Statements
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30 Sep 26 Sep
2022 2021
£'000 £°000
- (60)
1137 101
1,137 41
. (360)
- 33
- (9.832)
- (2.851)
9,540 -
3470 -
13,010 (13,010)
14,147 (12,969)
30 Sep 26 Sep
2022 2021
£'000 £'000
(97,041) (14,555)
18.00% 19.00%
(18.438) {2,786)
(24) -
12,664 7.356
(758) -
(41) 60
3,470 -
- {11,610}
~ {495)
- (2,797)
- {2.851)
16,134 -
1,137 134
14,147 (12,969)

An increase in the UK corporaticn rate from 18% to 25% (effective 1 April 2023) was substantively enacted on 24 May 2021. This will increase the
company's future current tax charge accordingly. The deferred tax asset and liability at 30 September 2022 has been calculated based on these

rates, reflecting the expected timing of reversal of the related timing differences (2021: 19%).

Management have made an assessment of the recognition of deferred tax asseis in respect of tax losses carried forward and accelerated capitat
allowances as at 30 September 2022 and considered the traatment by $SU Group regarding recognition of Deferred Tax Assets.
Given the previous history of tax losses in the Group, and the current year losses in the entity, the Deferred Tax Assels which were racogrised in the
prior year Financial Staterments have been reconsidered. On this basis, the deferred tax asset has only been recognised to the net against the
Deferred Tax Liability. The nature of the deferred tax assets and liabilities are detailed below. Tax losses do not expire under current legisiation.

Assets {Liability)
l.osses Accelerated Intangibles
carried capital arising on
forward allowances acquisition Total
Deferred tax £000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Asset / (Liability) at 26 September 2021 2,851 1,610 {1,451) 13,010
Movement in the period {1.706) (11,610} 306 {13,010)
Asset / (Liability) at 30 September 2022 1,145 - {1,145) -
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8. Intangibie assets

Intellectual Software
The Group CiP Goodwill property and licenses Total
Cast £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000
At 26 September 2021 8,745 179,505 16,863 £8,598 273,811
Additions 13,585 - 48 837 14,470
Transfer on completion (192) - - 192 -
Reclassification - - - 13 13
Disposals (7.178) (100} (17) (615) {7.908)
At 30 September 2022 14,962 179,405 16,994 69,025 280,366
Accumulated amortisation
At 26 Soptembsr 2021 2,450 108,372 9,781 54,437 175,040
Amartisation and impairment 4,763 - 1,553 4,161 10,477
Disposals (7,213) {100} (18) (513) (7.842)
At 30 September 2022 - 108,272 11,318 58,085 177 675
Net book value
At 30 September 2022 14,962 71.133 5,676 10,940 102,711
At 26 September 2021 6,295 71,133 7,182 14,161 98,771

Borrowing costs amounting to £1,330,000 (2021: £1,330,000} have been capitalised in software and licanses at interest rates ranging from 4.45% to
7.12%. Accumulated amortisation on these balances amounts to £704,700 (2021: £572,400) .

Intellectual property includes brands, trademarks and customer databases.
Construction in progress represenis capital improvement projects which are part of an IT transformation programme, to replace or upgrade a
significant number of systems which ara used across the business. This will alsc improve the data and reporiing functionality across the group.

Management assess afl assets for impairment on an annual basis. In reviewing the costs incurred on major IT projects which are being underiaken
during the year, it was identified that some of the costs incurred related to work which no ionger held value. This resulted in an impairment charge
against the costs which were previously held in construction in progress refating to this specific work. The total impairment charge in the year relating
to capitalised costs which were no longer assessed o be suitable to recognised as assels is £4,763,000. The remaining £14,962,000 held in CIP has
been assessed lo hold future economic benefits for the Group.

Included within the above table are internaily generated assets These are split across the asset categories as follows:

InteHectual Software
The Group ClrP property and licenses Total
Cost E000 E'000 £°000 £'000
At 26 September 2021 1,160 15 15,487 273,811
Additions 3,105 48 40. ‘3,193
Transfer on completion (42) - 42 -
Disposals - ’ - (20) {20}
At 30 September 2022 4,223 83 15,549 276,984
Accumulated amortisation
At 26 Seplember 2021 - 12 12,670 175,040
Amortisation B - 7 1,196 1,203
Disposals - - (11) {11)
At 30 September 2022 - 19 13,858 176,232
Net book value
At 30 September 2022 4,223 44 1,694 5,961
At 26 September 2021 , 1,160 3 2,817 3,980
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8. Intangible assets {continued}

Impairment testing for cash generating units containing goodwill
Far the purpose of impalrment testing management consider the operations of Mapil Tapca Limited and its subsidiaries to constitute one cash
generating unit (the "WiggleCR CGU"). The entire carrying value of goodwill has been allocated to this CGU for the purposes of impairment testing.

MAPIL TGPCO LIMITED
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The recoverable amount of the WiggleCR CGU is based on its value in use which has been determined by discounting the future cash flows to be

generated from the continuing use of this CGU.

Key assumptions used in calculating value in use

The discounted cash flow calculation is based on management's 5 year plan, with the first year being the 2023 Ferecast, A terminal value is applied

to the last year.

The growth rates used to extrapolate cash flow projections beyond the period covered by the business plan are as follows:

Terminai growth rate
Pre-tax discount rate

Terminal growth rate

A terminal growth of 1% is consistent with long term projections of the online retail sector.

Discount rate

2022

1.0%
11.6%

2021

2.0%
15.9%

The discount rate has been calcutated by using the Capital Asset Pricing Model {CAPM), this is considered o be the most accurate measure of the

risk associated with cash flow of the CGU.

Key assumptions in the § year plan include average annual revenue growth of 10.3% and a small average annual increase of 1.0% to gross margin.

Sensitivity

Ne reasonable possible change in key assumptions individually or in combination, together with consequential risk changes, will cause impairment,

9. Tangible fixed asseots

The Group
Cost

At 26 September 2021
Additiong
Recilassification
Disposals
Remeasurement

At 30 September 2022

Accumulated depreciation
At 26 September 2021
Depreciation

Disposals

At 30 September 2022

Net book value
At 30 September 2022
At 26 September 2021

Leasehold
Right of use land and Equipment Motor

asset cip buildings and fixtures vehicles Total
£°000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £:000 £'000
21,993 - 11,508 10,783 216 44,500
50 141 183 719 28 1,121
- - 3 {16) - {(13)
(80) - - (135) - {215)
100 - - - - 100
22,063 141 11,694 11,351 244 45,493
4,634 - 5,876 8,358 169 19,037
1,979 - 810 976 22 3,787
(76} - - {106} - (182)
6,537 - 6,686 9,228 191 22,642
15,526 141 5,008 2,123 53 22,851
17,359 - 5,632 2,425 47 25,483

Cost includes direct costs incurred in bringing assets into their present condition, which includes certain incremental labour costs. Borrowing costs
amounting to £618,000 (2021: £678,000) have been included in leaseheld land and buildings. Accumulated depreciation amounts to £374,600

{2021. £318,300).
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10. Investments in subsidiaries

Capitalisation

The Company Investment of debt Total
Cost £000 £:000 £°000
At 26 September 2021 and 30 September 2022 66,718 126,165 192,883
Accumujated impairment

At 26 September 2021 and 30 September 2022 66,718 126,165 192,883

Net book value
Al 26 September 202t and 30 September 2022

The Company owns 100% of the issued share capital of Mapil Midco 1 Limited, The

foliowing are wholly owned subsidiary companies of Mapit Topco

Limited_
Class of
shares

Name Country of incorporation held Holding Principal activity
Mapil Midco 1 Limited United Kingdom Ordinary 100% Holding company
1000 Lakeside, Suite 310, Third Floor, N E Wing, Direct
Portsmouth, PO6 3EN
Peloton Topco Limited United Kingdom Ordinary 100% Holding company
1000 Lakeside. Suite 310, Third Floor, N E Wing, “Indirect
Portsmouth, PO6 3EN
Peloton Midco 1 Limited United Kingdom Ordinary 100% Holding company
1000 Lakeside. Suite 310, Third Floor, N E Wing, Indirect
Partsmouth, PO6 3EN
Mapil Midco 2 Limited United Kingdom Ordinary 100% Holding company
1000 Lakeside. Suite 310, Third Floor, N E Wing, Indirect
Portsmouth, PO6 3EN
Mapil Bidco Limited United Kingdom Ordinary 100% Holding company
1000 Lakeside. Suite 310, Third Floor, N E Wing, Indirect
Portsmouth, PO6 3EN
Chain Reaction Cycles Limited United Kingdom Ordinary 100% Management company
5Trench Road, Mallusk, Newtonabbey Indirect
BT3G 4TY, Northem Ireland
Chain Reaction Cycles Retail Limited United Kingdom Ordinary 100% Retall of cycle goods
5 Trench Road, Mailusk, Newtonabbey Indirect
BT36 4TY, Northern Ireland
Hotlings Europe Limited United Kingdom Ordinary 100% Retail of cycle goods
5 Trench Road, Mallusk, Newtonabbey Indirect
BT36 4TY, Northern ‘reland
Taiwan Chain Reaction Co. Ltd Taiwan Ordinary 100 Buying office

Indirect

3F., No. 398, Juguang Rd, Yuanlin Township
Changhua County 51052, Taiwan
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10. Investmants in subsidiaries (continued)

1.

MAPIL TOPCO LIMITED

Annual Report and Financial Statements
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Class of
shares
Name Country of incorporation held Holding Principal activity
Ensce 503 Limited United Kingdom Ordinary 100% Holding company
1000 Lakeside, Sulte 310, Third Floor, N E Wing, A Ordinary Indirect
Portsmouth, POB 3EN 2069 Ordinary
Super Ordinary
2040 Ordinary
2010 Super Ordinary
A Preference
B Preference
Wiggle Limited United Kingdom Ordinary 1nn%  Retail of cycle and other
1000 Lakeside. Suite 310, Third Floor, N E Wing, A Ordinary Indirect sporting goods
Portsmouth, PO6 3EN B Ordinary
C Ordinary
D Ordinary
Wiggle Australia (Pty) Limited Australia Ordinary 100%  Retail of cycle and other
Ground Floor, 112 Wellington Parade Indirect sporting goods
East Malbourne, Victoria, 3002
WiggleCRC US LLC United States of America Ordinary 100% Dormant
Indirect

1208 Orange Street, Wilmington, Gounty of Newcastle,
Delaware 19801

The subsidiary undertakings listed below are exempt from the Companies Act 2006 requirements relating to the audit of their individual accounts by

virtue of Section 479A of the Act as this company has guaranteed the subsidiary company under Section 479C of the Act.

Company narre: Company number:
Mapil Midco 1 Limited 07816651
Peloton Topce Limited 10973118
Paloton Midco 1 Limited 10973172
Mapil Midco 2 Limited 07845727
Mapil Bidco Limited 07785663
Chain Reaction Cycles Limited NI036744
Chain Reaction Cycles Retail Limited NI505356
Hotlines Europe Limited Ni058521
Ensco 503 Limited 05772214
Wiggle Limited 02667809
Inventories

Finished goods and goods for resale

Inventaries are cartied at cost less a provision to take account of slow rmoving and obsolete items.
The cost of invenlories recognised as an expense irt continuing operations during the year was £167,016,000 (2021: £225,025,000}.

30 Sep 26 Sep
2022 2021
£'000 £000

79,297 60,669

The carrying amaeunt of any inventories that are carried fair value less cost to sell is £16,728,000 (2021, £8,748,000). The carrying value of
inventories is presented net of a provision of £4,379,000 (2021; £2,782,000) in respect of write-downs to net realisable value.
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12, Trade and other receivables

30 Sep 26 Sep
2022 2021
The Group £ 000 £'000
Trade receivables 498 533
Prepayments and actrued income 7,793 B.409
Corporation tax 365 358
Other receivables 1,294 537
Amounts due from non—consclidated affiliates 1,609 -
11,559 9,837
30 Sep 26 Sep
2022 2021
The Company £000 £000
Amounts receivable in less than one year
Other receivables 731 .
Amounts due from group companies 136 -
867 -
Amounts receivable in greater than one year
Amounts due from group companies 33,967 122
33,967 122

All consclidated and non-consolidated group receivables are repayable on demand and no interest is chargad on these batances. Management have
analysed ferecast future cash flows for the Group in determining that group receivable balances are recoverable.

13. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 30 Sep 26 Sep
2022 2021
The Group £'000 £'000
Trade creditors 38,013 32,766
Amounts owed to non-gonsolidated group affiliates 6,073 -
Other taxes and social security 8,270 6,019
Lease liability 1,605 1,612
Accruals 10,477 14,456
Other creditors T.129 8,515
Amounts owed to shareholders - 5.990
68,567 69,358

Amounts owed ta non-consclidated group affiliates are non-interest bearing. Amounts owed to shareholders includes interest of £nil (2021:
£3,898,000).

In the prior year, amounts owed to shareholders includes interest accrued on Shareholder Loan Notes which is payable within 12 months. At the point
this interest is due, payment can be deferred or settled through the issue of a Payment in Kind note {“PIK Note") at the discretion of the Company,
subject ta shareholder consent. Until the interest is settied or deferred, it is classified as an amount due within one year due to the requirement to
obtain shareholder consent to defer settlement. All amounts presented as short term that have fallen due were subsequently deferred or PIK'd during
the course of 2021. Al amounts were settled as part of the acquisition by SSU on 14th December 2021,

Trade creditors are non-interest bearing and are payable on average within 45 days at 30 September 2022 (2021: 38 days) .

30 Sep 26 Sep

2022 2021

The Company £'000 £'000
Amounts owed to group companies 36,281 3,716
Amounts ewed to non-consolidated group affiliates 6,073 -
Amaunts owed to shareholders - 2,183
Other creditars & acéruals 1,487 1,585
43,841 7.484

Amounts owed 10 non-consalidated group affifiates are non-interest bearing. Amounts owed to group entities are non-interest bearing. In the prior

year, interest was charged on amounts owed to sharehelders at a rate of 4% (2021: 4%} .
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Notes to the financial statements {continued)

14, Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

30 Sep 26 Sep

2022 2021

The Group £'000 £°000
Amaounts owed to parent 34,956 -
Lease liability 18,203 19,678
Amounts owed to shareholders - 240,773
Preference shares classified as Habilities - 58,559
Dividends due on preference shares - 23,758
Bank loans - 66,110
53,158 408,878

Amounts owed to non-consclidated group affiliates includes loans of £33,967,000 and capitalised interest of £983,000. Interest is charged on
amounts owed to non consolidated Group companies al a rate of 5% which is consistent with SSU Group intercompany interest rates. Amounts owed
to shareholders after amortisation includes loan and PIK notes totalling £nil (2021: £115,723,000) and accrued deferred interest of £nil (2027:
£41,676,000}. The fuil vaiue of the preference shares and associated 2ccrued dividends as at the acquisition date were paid to the sharehoiders in
order to transfer ownership to SSU. All other balances owed to shareholders in the prior period were fully repaid as part of the acquisition by SSU on

14th December 2021,

The Company
Amounts owed to parent

Preference shares classifisd as liabilities
Dividends due on preference shares

The Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year are repayable as foilows:

Group

As at 30 September 2022
Between one and two years
Between two and five years

More than five years

As at 26 September 2021
Between one and two years

Between two and five years

More than five years

30 Sep 26 Sep
2022 2021
£'000 £°000
34,956 -
- 58,559
- 23,758
34,956 82,317
Preference
Amounts owad shares and Loan from
to parent dividends shareholders Bank loans
£'000 E'000 £'000 £'000
34,856 - - -
Preference
ghares and Loan from
dividerdls  shareholders Barnk loans
£'000 £'000 £000
- 240,773 66,110
B2,347 - -

The loans from shareholders and bank loans were all repaid in full as part of the acquisition of the Mapil Topco Group by SSU. The maturity date of

all non consolidated group loans notes is 30 September 2025.

Preference shares

On the date SSU successfully acquired the Mapil Topco Group, they also acquired the preference share liability totaling £58,558,000. The preference

share capital and premium were converted into equity.
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14, Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (continued)

This table provides information about the contractual terms of the Group's interest-bearing loans and horrowings, showing both the principal and
warrying vatues. The principal value is measured at amortised cost. For mors information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate, liquidity, foreign

currency and credit risks, see note 18.

Nominal
Value
Facility Carrying
Interest  Interest rate Currency armount
As at 30 September 2022 rate {PIK} (cash paid) Maturity 000's £000's
Amounts owed to Parent (EUR) 5% - Sep 2025 39,808 34,956
Total Loan Notas issued to shareholdera and non 34.956
censolidated group companies '
Nominal
Value
Facility Carrying
Interest {nterest rate Currency amount
As at 26 September 2021 rate (PIK) {cash paid) Maturity 000's £000°s
Revolving Facility (GBP) 4.5% + Libor Dec 2022 10,700 10,700
Revolving Facility (EUR) 4.5% + Euribor Dec 2022 15,251 13,303
Facility B (EUR) 5% + Euribor Dec 2022 47,977 42,107
Total Bank Loans 66,110
3
Nominal
Value
Facility GCarrying
Interest interast rate Currency amount
As at 26 Septermmber 2021 rate (PIK) {cash paid}) Maturity 000's £000's
Loan Notes issued to shareholders (GBP) 1% - Jun 2023 104,063 104,051
Loan Notes issued to shareholders (GBP) 20% - Jun 2023 136,737 136,722 -
Total Loan Notes issued to shareholders 240,773
—_—m
15, Provigions for liabilities and charges 30 Sep 26 Sep
2022 201
Dilapidations and asset retiremnent provision £000 £'000
Balance at beginning of the period 2,741 1,661
Increases to provisions in the period - 575
Pravisions utilised in the period {240} (22)
Remeasurement (442) 527
2,058 2,741

e e

A dilapidations and asset retirement provision is made to cover the future cost of retumning properties to the condition required by the lessor upon exit
from the lease. It is based on management's assessment, which included obtaining a quote from a third party, of the current state of properties in the
Group's portfalio and an assessment of inflation and discount rates. These provisions are expected to be used within the next 12 years.
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16. Share capital and reserves
The movements in the called up share capital and share premium account are set out helow:

The Group and the Company smrecaptal o lBR U
Called up, allotted and fully paid £'000 £000 £°000 £'000
58,559,127 Preference shares of £.0001 each [¢] 58,553 58,559 58,569
1,600,000 A Ordinary shares of £.01 each 16 1,684 1,600 1,600
338,080 B Ordinary shares of £.01 each 4 336 340 340
339,384 C Ordinary shares of £.0125 each 4 - 4 4
124,789,389 D Ordinary shares of £.0001 each 12 124,777 124,789 124,789
2,931,957 E Ordinary shares of £.0001 each - - - -
60,000 E2 Ordinary Shares of £.15 each 9 - 9 ]
77,111 F Ordinary shares of £.01 each 1 - 1 1
400 G Ordiitary shares of £.00U01 each - 1,000 1,000 1,000
2,000,000 Preferred Ordinary shares of £.0001 each - - - -
Total share capital 52 186,250 186,302 186,302
Less: Preference shares classified as liabilities (see note 14) - - - (58,559}
Shares classified as equity at 3¢ September 2022 52 186,250 186,302 127,743

The A Ordinary Shares, B Ordinary Shares and G Ordinary shares, D Ordinary Shares, £ Ordinary Shares, E2 Ordinary Shares, F Ordinary Shares, G
Ordinary $hares, Preferred Ordinary Shares, Preference Shares and Tracker Ordinary shares shall rank pait passu among themselves, but they
constitute separate classes of shares. All classes of shares have attached to them full voting, dividend and capital distribution (including on winding
up} rights,

On the date SSU successfully acquired the Mapil Topoco Group, they also acquired the preference shares with a value of £58,559.000. The
proference share capital and premium were converted into equity.

Share based payments reserve

The share based payment raserve represents the fair value of existing share arrangements held by the Employee Benefit Trust, on behalf of Group
management, relating to shares hetd in SSU group.

The fair value of the equity instruments was determined based on the group share price at the period end, see Nole 17 for further detail.

Capital contribution reserve

The capital contribution reserve consists of shareholder debt that has been waived in exchange for capital contributions. SSU completed the takeover
of Mapil Topce group on 14th December 2021 and repaid all the existing debt which was owing to the previous parents of the group, resulting in a
debt being owed from Mapil Topco to SSU totalling €373,692,000. On 30th September 2022, an agreement was executed between SSU and Mapil
Topco Limited in which the unpaid loan principle and accrued interest would be waived. No consideration was paid for this debt waiver and so it has
been treated as a capital contribuiion. '

17. Share-based payment arrangements
Mapil Topco Limited operated five incentive schemes in the group in the period to 30 September 2022, all of these schemes relate to shares held in
the S5U Group.
The total charge refating to the all the schemes through the income statement was £6,126,000, of which £421,000 related to the cash settled
schame, with the remaining £5,705,000 relating to the equity settled schemes. The charge relating to the EBT schemes detailed below was
£1,152,000, of which £731,000 remains held in the Share Based Payment Reserve at the pericd end.
The EBT scheme, of which there are two components, is the only scheme for which a Reserve Is held in the MapH Topco Group as the remaining
schemes afe settled by SSU M.V. Mapit Topco hold an Intercompany Payable of £4,466,000 with SSU N.V. in relation to the IPO employee bonus,
an exit bonus and a retention bonus, Of these schemes, only the exit bonus was exercised in the year.

PO Employee Bonus (equity settied)

Following the acquisition of the Mapil Tepco group and the successful listing of SKGNA Sperts United N.V., a Group wide emplayee IPO bonus was
provided to all staff members meeting length of service criteria at the point of the listing, which required them to be employed six months prior to the
listing date. The share options granted were determined based on employee salary in the month preceding the listing. The oplions were granted on
11 May 2022, at which point they vested as there are no further service conditions, however they become payatte on 15th December 2022. The
scheme will be setiled by SSU N.V, and therefore the Hability is held with them. The total charge relating to this scheme was £1,292,000 based on a
grant date value per share of $10.00, The share price at 30 September 2022 was $7.28.

Retention Bonus (equity settled) .

The retention bonus scheme represents a bonus payable in shares, which is due to senior management should they remain emplayed by the SSU
Group for a qualifying length of service, being each of the vesting dates. The grant date of the shares was June 2022, at a fixed value of £1,055,000.
This is split between the two vesting periods, being £527,500 on 15th December 2022 and £527,500 on 15th June 2023. There is an option to
convert to cash that becomes payable on 15th December 2024. The total charge relating to this scheme was £1,055.000, the value at the grant date
was based on 100% of salary of the participants. The liability is held with SSU N.V.. The share price at 30 September 2022 was $7.28.

Exit Bonus (equity settled)

The exit bonus was granted on 15th December 2021 with an original vesting date in May 2022, During the year an amendment was made o the
scheme to aflow participants to either vest the shares or convert some of the optiens to cash and extend the vesting date on the remaining options to
May 2023. Some participants aliowed the shares to vest squating to £325,000. The remaining participants converted some shares to cash and
received payments totalling £501,000 in June and September 2022, The remaining liability of £2,126,000 is held with 85U N.V.. Tha totai charge
relating to the scheme was £2,627.000.
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17. Share-based payment arrangements (continued)
Employee Benefit Trust (EBT) programmes
The Employee Benefit Trust (EBT) previously held shares in Mapit Topco on behalf of management personnel, On 15 Decemher 2021, when SSU
acqurred the group and purchased 100% of the share capital, this also included the shares held by the EBT. The consideration for the EBT shares
was a combination of cash and SSU NV shares, which were lacked untit June 2022. The cash element was settled in the financial year. Details of the
components of the EBT and the other schemes are explained below.

Management have assessed the size and risk of the schemes below relative to materiality and an assessment of the volatility of the scheme, using a
method such as the Black Scholes model, has not been performed at the period end. Therefore no valuation inputs have been disclosed below.

EBT schems (cash settled)

Part of the EBT scheme, which was settled in July 2022, was based on a set cash value being seitled with management personnel. The cash was
paid by Signa Group o acquira the shares held in the EBT at the point acquisition and the cash was subsequently paid out to management personne!
for a total value of £421,000. Therefore, this part of the EBT was a cash setlled scheme. The total charge relating to the scheme was £421,000.

EBT scheme {equity settled}

For the equity settled part of the EBT scheme, the shares came out of lock up in June 2022 but are not yet sold and therefore are currently held within
the EBT and are currently open Tor sale. Lhe EBI has an obligation to management personnel to transfer the proceeds of sate when the shares are
sold. The shares have all currently vested. The shares will be sold by the EBT and the proceeds paid to management, WiggleCRC doesn't have an
obligation to settle the transaction with it's employees. The total charge relating to the scheme was £731,000, The awards will be settled at the value
realised on the sale of equity, therefore the transaction is accounted for as equity settied.

Reconciliation of outstanding share options
The number and weighted-average exercise prices of share options under the EBT programme were as follows.

in thousands of options Number of Weighted-average exercise

shares price
Qutstanding at 27 September 2021 - Nia
Granted in the year 137.83 $7.56
Revaluation of grants 137.83 {$1.82)
QOutstanding and exercisable at 30 September 2022 137.83 $5.74

18. Commitments, contingencies and leases
Cross Company Guarantees
There are cross company guarantees for Mapit Topco Group in relation to a SSUF Group revolving facility agreement. The Group RCF amounts to
€100,000,000 and is held with Landesbank Baden-Wirltemberg as [ead arranger and bookrunner. No claims are expected in respect of these
guarantees.

The Company leases assets including lang and buildings, equipment and fixtures and motor vehicles. Information about leases for which the
Company is a lessee is presented below.

Right-of-use assets Equipmant
Land and and Moter

building fixtures vehicles Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 26 September 2021 16,335 1,001 23 17,359
Additions - - 50 50
Disposals - 80) - (80)
Remeasurement - 100 - 100
Depreciation (1,865) {297) (17} (1,979}
Depreciation on disposals - 6 - 76
Balance at 30 September 2022 14,670 800 56 15,526
Lease labilities 30 Sep 26 Sep
Maturity analysis - contractual undiscounted cash flows 2022 2021
£'000 £'000

Less than one year 2,515 2,558
One to five years 9,867 9,932
More than five years 12,908 15,033
Total undiscounted lease liabilities 25,290 27,523
30 Sep 26 Sep

2022 2021
Lease Jiabilities included in the statement of financial position £'000 £'000
Current 1,605 1,612
Non-current 18,203 19,678
14,808 21,290
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18. Commitments, contingencies and leases (continucd)

Right-of-use assets (continued) 30 Sap 26 Sep
2022 2021

Amounts recognised in profit and loss £000 £'000
Depreciation 1,979 2,135
Interest on [ease habilities 1,000 1,052
2,979 3,187

30 Sep 26 Sep

2022 2021

Ameounts recognised in the statement of cashflow £000 £'000
Total cash outflow for leases 2,623 3,123

19. Related party disclosures

Identity of related parties

Mapii Topco Limiteg and all its subsidiaries form the Topco Group of Companies (“the Group”). The Group's controlling shareholder is SIGNA Sports
United GmbH {850} following the successful acquisition of the Mapil Topco Group on 14th December 2021. The registered office of 38U is
Kanstrasse 164, Upper West, D-10623 Berlin.

Mapil Topce Limited's previous majority shareholder was Briggepoint Europe IV (Nominees) Limited. The registered office of Bridgepoint Europe IV
{Nominees) Limited is 95 Wigmore Street, London, W1l 1FB. Bridgepoint Europe IV (Nominees) Limited holds the shares as nominee for the
partnerships which make up the Bridgepoint Europe IV Fund, which is managed by Bridgepoint Advisers Holdings a company regulated by the
Financial Conduct Authority and incorporated in England and Wales. The registered office of Bridgepoint Advisers Holdings is 95 Wigmore Street,
London, W1U 1FB.

It the below disclasure and throughout the financial statements, non-consolidated group affiliates refers to other entities with the SSU group, but that
are not in the Mapil Topco group, and so do not form part of the Magil Topeo consolidation.

30 Sep 26 Sep
The Group 2022 2021
Revenue £'000 £000
Sales made to non-consolidated group affitiates 1,296 -
Trade and cther receivables
Receivables due from non-consolidated group affiliates 1,609 -
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Payables due from non-consolidated group affiliates (6,073} -
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Loans held with parent (34,9586) -
Shareholder loans and PIK notes - (240,773}
Preference shares classified as liabilities - (82,317)

(34,956} (323,090)
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19. Related party disclosures (continued)
Identity of related parties {continued)

30 Sep 26 Scp
The Company 2022 2021
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year £'000 £'000
Payables due from non-consolidated group affiliates (6,073)
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Loans held with parent (34,956} -
Shareholder loans - (2,183)
Preference shares classified as liabilities - (82,317}

(34,956) (84,500)

Interest due on the loans from non consolidated Group companies is capitalised quarterfy at a rate of 5%. Interest is then due on the capitalised
interest as well as the initial loan balance. In the prior year, loans to shareholders were paid by the issue of deferred interest at rates of 11% to 20%
per annum. Interest was then also payable on the accrued deferred interest at rates of 11% to 20% per annum by the issue of further deferred
interest. The shareholder foans and all associated interest was repaid in full by SSU on acquisition of the Mapil Topco Group. On the date SSU
successfully acquired the Mapil Topco Group, they also acquired the preference shares with a value of £58,559,000. The full value of the preference
shares and associated accrued dividends as at the acquisition date was paid 1o the shareholders in order to transfer ownership to SSU,
subsequently the preference share capital and premium were convertad into equity. '

In the prior period, the following Unsecured Subordinated Redeemable Loan Notes included in shareholder loans were listed on The International
Stock Exchange: £87,423,021 included in Mapil Midco 1 Limited and £111,700,446 included in Mapil Midco 2 Limited. These were fully settled as part
of the SSU acquisition on 14th December 2021,

Other transactions with controlling parties

At the period end, there was £1,452,623 (2021: £nil) and £4,620,556 (2021: £nil} outstanding in relation o management fees due to SSU GmbH and
management fees and ocutstanding share-based payments due 1o SSU NV respectively. At the period end there was £nil (2021. £900,000)
outstanding in relation to management fees invoiced, and a further £nil (2021: £1,087,500) in relation to accrued management fees, payable to
Bridgepoint, the previous shareholder of Mapil Topco. These were repaid in full as part of the acquisition by SSU.

Key managemsnt personnel

Key management includes the directors as identified in the Directors’ report. The compensation paid or payable to key management for employee
services is set out in note 5. In the prior period, included within shareholder loans and PIK notes was £7.648,646 owed to one of the directors, this
was repaid in full as part of the acquisition by SSU. The full value of the preference shares and associated accrued dividends as at the acquisition
date was paid to the shareholders in order to transfer ownership to SSU, this included payments totalling £6,006,569 to key management personnel.

20. Financial instruments 30 Sep 26 Sep

2022 2021

The Group £'000 £°000
Financial assets

Cash and bank batances 3,219 46,864

Loans and receivables at amortised cost 3,766 3,166

5,985 50,030

30 Sep 26 Sep

2022 2021

The Group £:'000 E'000

Financial liabilities
Held at amertised cost

Trade and other payables 66,962 61,755
Loans held with non-consolidated group affiliates 34,956 -
Lease liability 19,808 21,250
Bank foans - 66,110
Shareholder loans - 246,764
Prefarence shares classified as amortising financial liability - 82,317

121,726 478,236

Loans and racelvables at amortised cost excludes prepayments amounting fo £7,793,000 (2021 £6,671,000}. The lcans held with non-consolidated
group affiliates have a rate of 5% and therefore the carrying value is considered to be agreed 1o the fair value of these loans. The shareholder loans
were repaid in full as part of the SStJ acquisition of the Mapil Topco Group.
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20. Financial Instruments {continued)
20.1 Capital management
The Board's pelicy is 1o maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and 1o sustain future development
of the business. There were no changes in the Group's approach to capital management during the year.

The funding reguirements of the Group are met by the utilisation of external borrowings together with available cash, as detailed in note 14.

20.2 Financial risk management objectives

The Group's Treasury and Finance function monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group through internal
management risk reports which evaiuate financial risk exposures. These risks include market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and other
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk,

The Group manages the exposure to these risks as part of its day te day management of trading margins and profitability.

20.3 Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the Group's income or the
value of its holdings of financial instruments.

The Group's exposure to market risk is high due to the intemational sales mix, relatively low margins and high price elasticity, The directors are aware
of this risk and are activeiy mitigating this by increasing margins and naturally hedging with purchasing currency.

20.4 Foreign currency risk management

The Group has a large overseas customer base. In certain key countries, customers can pay for products using their home currency, The Group
manages the risk of foreign exchange fluctuations through natural hedging. The Group manages this exposure as part of its day to day management
of trading margins and profitability; where possible measures are adopted to minimise this risk including matching payments to suppliers with monies
received from revenue in the same currency.

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

In managing currency risks, the Group aims to reduce the impact of shori-term fluctuations on the Group's earnings. The following analysis shows the
Group's sensitivity to a 10% increase in GBP against the relevant foreign currencies. 10% is the sensitivity rate generally used when evaluating risk
exposures internally and represents management's assessment of a reasonably possible change in foreign currency exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change in
foreign currency rates. The analysis includes external loans as well as loans to foreign operations within the Group where the denomination of the
Joan is in a currency other than the functional currency of the lender or borrower. For a 10% weakening of GBP against the relevant currency, there
would be a comparable impact on profit or equity and the balances below would be negative,

i GBP had been 10% stronger/weaker against EUR and all other variables were held constant, the Group's profit before tax would have
increased/decreased by £3,005,765 (2021 £4,773,405) and this is due mainly to exposure on the loans and borrowings and trade creditor balances
denominated in EUR, offset by cash batances held and trade prepayments denominated in EUR.

if GBP had been 10% strongeriweaker against JPY and all other variables were heki constant, the Group's profit before tax would have
decreasediincreased by £93,799 (2027; £131,784) and this is due mainly to cash balances held in JPY offset by trade creditor balances denominated
in JPY.

If GBP had been 10% stronger/weaker against AUUD and all other variables were held constant, the Group's profit befare tax would have
decreasediincreased by £160,785 (2021: £193,487) and this is due mainly to cash balances held in AUD offset by trade creditor balances
denominated in AUD.

If GBP had been 10% stronger/weaker against USD and all other varables were held constant, the Group's profit before tax would have
decreasedfincreased by £384,212 (2021: £546,588) and this is due mainly to cash balances held and trade prepayments denominated in USD offset
by trade creditors balances denominated in LISD.

20.5 Interest rate risk managerent

The Mapil Topco Group is exposed to interest rate risk because it borrows funds at SSU Group determined interest rates. The SSU Group manage
the risks of interest rates by setting group borrowing rates in line with relevant extemal borrowing rates. The interest rate profile of leans and
borrowings is described in note 14,

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below is determined based on the exposure to potentiat movement in Group borrowing rates for loans at the end of the
reporting period. For Group borrowings, the analysis assumes the liability at the end of the year was outstanding for the whole year. A 1% increase
or decrease is used as management consider this to be a reasonably possible change in interest rates,

If interest rates had been 1% highetliower and all other variables were held constant, the Group's profit before tax for the period would have
decreasefincreased by £143,000 (2021: £406,0600} and this is due mainly to exposure on flcating rate berrowings.

20.8 Credit risk management
Credit risk is the risk of financial lass to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to mest its contractual cbligatiens, and
artses principally from a Group's receivables from customers and investment securities.

The Group's operations are principally retail and so exposure to credit risk is minimal. The Group periodically reviews its receivables and makes
appropriate provisions where recovery is deemed to be doubtful.

20.7 Liquidity risk managemant
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial ebligations as they fall due.

The Group Is in a stable cash position and retains headroom in its available working capital, In addition to an overdraft facility, the Group has access
1o revolving credit, import loans, guarantees and documents in trust,
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Financial instruments (continued)
20.8 Fair value measurements

Fair vajue of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair vafue on a recurring basis

Trade and other receivables

MAPIL TOPCO LIMITED
Annual Report and Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 September 2022

Trade and other recsivables are carried at recoverable amount, less provisions for any amounts where recovery is doubtful. All trade and other
receivables are expected to be short term and therefore no discounting of value is appropriate, The fair vatue of trade and other receivables

approximate the carmying values.
Trade and other pavables

Trade and other payables are carried at the face value payable. All trade and other payables are expected to be short term and therefore no

discounting of future cash flows is appropriate.

Cash and cash equivalents
The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is estimated at its carrying amount.

The bank loans are valued at their carrying amount in foreign currency, revalue‘d at the cotporate period end exchange rates. Shareholder dabt is

valued at its carrying amount.

in estimating fair value for foreign exchange derivatives, the Group uses future exchange rales derived from publishad forward currency rates.

Net debt
Loans held with Praference
non- shares and
consolidated Cash and Bank loans and sharehoider
The Group group affitiates bank balances other NCI Leases loan notas Net debt
£'000 £°000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000
Balance at 27 September 2020 - 49,306 (73,710) (22,643) (275,872)  (322,919)
Cash flow - (2,792) 6,280 2,071 - 5,559
Effects of Foreign Exchange - 350 3,955 - - 4,305
Other movements - - (2,635) (718) (47,219) (50,572)
Balance at 26 September 2021 - 46,864 (66,110} (21,290) (323,097) (363,627)
Cash flow {32,517} (42,315) - 2,624 - (72,208)
Capitalised interest on SSU loans (947) - - - - (947)
Repayment of previous shareholder debt and bank loans - - 66,110 - 323,091 389,201
Sharsholder debt assumed on acquisition {360,339) - - - - {380,339)
Group debt waiver 373,626 - - - - 373,626
Effects of Foreign Exchange (14,779) (1,330} - - - (16,109}
Other movements - - - {1,142} - {1.142)
Balance at 30 September 2022 (34,956) 3,219 - (19,808) - (51,545)
Net debt is the total amount of cash and cash equivalents less interest-bearing foans and borrowings and finance lease liabilities. Cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management and included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the statement of cash flows only.
Post balance sheet events

Since the year end, SSU have provided additional funding totalling €21,650,000. These are interast bearing loans with an interest rate of 5% and

have a settlement date of 30 September 2025.

There are no ather adjusting or non-adjusting post balance sheet events to be disclosed.
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